Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-16-2013

Clark v. Shari's Management Corp. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40393

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case:

This is an appeal from an order by the Honorable LaDawn Marsters, Referee with the Idaho Industrial Commission concluding that the evidence was inadequate to establish Claimant's alleged back condition was caused by an accident arising out of and in the course of her employment.

The Background of this case can be taken partially from page 4 of the Referee's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommendation (hereinafter "Decision").

Claimant/Appellant, Dallas Clark, (hereinafter "Claimant") was an original hire (waitress) when Employer opened in September of 2008. An expert server, Claimant came to Employer with a great deal of experience. She very much liked serving, particularly the customer service aspect of her job. Claimant was soon placed on the graveyard shift, from 10:00 p.m. until 6:00 a.m., because she could manage the front of the "house" (part of the restaurant) on her own, which many servers were incapable of doing. In addition to her regular duties, Claimant also trained other servers.

Educationally, Claimant quit school sometime during her ninth grade year. She told Defendant she has a GED, but in her deposition stated she was working on it.

Medically, prior to this alleged incident, she had no significant history of low back pain.

Claimant was 38 years of age when she began receiving medical treatment for low back symptoms, which she attributes to a workplace accident on or about November 24, 2008.

At this point in her Decision regarding the "Accident," - as Claimant pointed out in her Request for Reconsideration - the Referee made a number of clearly erroneous

factual findings, and went on to conclude that the Claimant did not prove that she suffered a compensable "accident" and was therefore not entitled to benefits.

The true, undisputed fact that should have been found by the Referee, is that on or about December 15, 2008, the Claimant notified the Defendant employer that she suffered a low back injury at work on November 24, 2008. Even though the Surety admitted it had notice of the injury on December 15, 2008, it did not take a statement from the Claimant until May 6, 2009. [Claimant's Exhibit 11] In that statement, the Claimant described how her back hurt as she was standing above the salad bar talking to her manager, and "thought she was standing on it wrong" and then "later in the evening" lifting a silverware tray her back gave out. [Claimant's Exhibit 11, p. 4]

As discussed below, the Referee (erroneously) thought that the Claimant prepared and filed a FROI "after the surgical recommendation was made," on or about April 22, 2008, and decided that Claimant made up an accident at that time so work comp would cover her surgery.²

The clearly true, undisputed fact is that the employer *admitted* it had notice of the injury as of December 15, 2008, and it was the *employer*, *not the Claimant*, who prepared and filed a FROI in late April, 2009, *after* it found out this was possibly a surgical case. Later, the Surety decided to take a statement from the Claimant, and never interviewed any other employees about the case.

¹ See Order Denying Reconsideration and Hearing, p. 4, third and fourth lines from the bottom of the page, and Defendants' Answer, p. 9 of the Agency Record on Appeal.

² See page 17, par. 38 of Referee's Decision, wherein she states, "Claimant alleges she sustained a workplace accident on November 24, 2008. However, the contemporaneously compiled documentation, through April 22, 2009, which includes Claimant's FROI, the daily manager's log and Claimant's medical records, together establish that Claimant did not attribute her low back pain to any particular event during this period."

Admittedly, over the years, Claimant's precise version of what happened the day of the accident changed. However, Claimant contends the differences are not material, and the evidence is clear she suffered a back injury at work on or about November 24, 2008.

There is no dispute that the Claimant "had no history of lumbar spine pathology until she sustained a herniated disc in her low back in late 2008." [Decision, p. 17, par. 37]

The Referee concluded, on page 20 of her Decision, that "there is credible evidence that work worsened Claimant's back pain over time...," but "No physician opined that Claimant incurred her lumbar injury while simply standing and talking at work, and Claimant has failed to prove that she was doing anything else at work that triggered her back pain or otherwise signaled a need for treatment."

Claimant contends that the evidence is clear, substantial, and competent that she suffered a compensable injury to her back at work waitressing on or about November 24, 2008.

The only issue at hearing on appeal is whether the Commission's finding that

Claimant failed to prove she sustained an injury from an "accident" arising out of and in the

course of her employment is supported by substantial and competent evidence.

2. <u>Course of Proceedings and Disposition:</u>

On November 23, 2009, Claimant filed a complaint with the IC. The matter went to hearing, which was held on June 1, 2011. The Referee's Decision was issued on March 7, 2012. Claimant filed a timely Request for Reconsideration, which was denied by the Commission August 28, 2012, and this appeal followed.

3. Statement of Facts:

As stated above, much of the Referee's "Background" in page 4 of her Decision, recited above, is not in dispute.

However, beginning at the bottom of page 4 of her Decision, in her Findings of Fact regarding the "Accident," the Referee clearly started off on the wrong foot making several factual errors, which, Claimant contends, took her and the Commission in a direction toward an erroneous conclusion.

First, in paragraph 4, on page 4 of her Decision, the Referee states,

"Claimant completed a First Report of Injury on April 24, 2009, in which she reported an ache in her lower back, with onset on November 24, 2008, while "standing" and "making a salad." DE A, p. 2. More specifically, Claimant wrote that she was "standing there and back began hurting." *Id*.

As discussed below, both the handwritten First Report of Injury ("FROI") and the typewritten one were <u>not</u> prepared by Claimant but by defendants. The Referee was clearly wrong finding that Claimant completed a FROI on April 24, 2009. Claimant testified that she signed the blank forms, but it was the employer who completed them. [Hearing Transcript (HT) p. 78, l. 2, through p. 84, l. 14] To these facts there is no dispute. Both reports record that the date employer was first notified of the injury was on December 15, 2008. Furthermore "notice" was admitted in Defendants Answer and is not an issue in this case. (AGENCY RECORD, p. 9) In denying Claimant's Request for Reconsideration, the Commission, at page 17 of it's Order, found the "notice" issue to be "immaterial," stating "the mere fact that Claimant *told* people that she suffered an accident/injury does not mean that the accident and injury actually happened. (emphasis in original)

Claimant disagrees. It is in fact *very* important to note that, by their own admission, defendants had been given notice of this accident by Claimant on or before December 15, 2008. It changes the context of each medical record and statement after that date and impeaches many of the "facts" the Referee and Commission rely on in denying the claim.

Next, at the bottom of page 4, top of page 5 of her Decision, the Referee writes, as a result [of the surety's receipt of the FROI's prepared by *defendants*] by letter dated May 18, 2009, the Surety denied Claimant's claim, "because her injury was not due to a workplace accident." The Referee then writes, "Ms. Clark did not associate any injuries or trauma to the onset of her pain. DE K, p. 68." The plain reading of Claimant's statement of May 6, 2009, shows this is not true!

In her statement given to the Defendant Surety May 9, 2009, the Claimant, in no uncertain terms, told the surety that while she was working the graveyard shifts she was,

"bringing silverware out from the kitchen and I went to put it up in the water station number two and its ... its about just barely above our drinking water and when I went to put that up there it just like a sharp pain in the same area and I drop...dropped and so I just laid it there set it down on the counter...". [Claimant's Exhibit 11, p. 4]

Clearly the Surety's denial was based on the information in the FROI's and not the Claimant's statement, since the Claimant obviously described a compensable accident and injury in her statement.

In fact, the Referee's quote comes directly from a letter from the Surety to their IME doctor, Dr. Hajjar, dated December 17, 2010, and misrepresents anything the Claimant actually said in her statement. [Defendant's Exhibit K, p. 68]

Thirdly, the Referee, at the top of page 5, par. 5 of her Decision, attempts to further discredit Claimant by falsely stating that although Claimant testified at hearing that the Surety paid some bills when "[t]here is no evidence in the record to support Claimant's assertion, which is contrary to Surety's position that it denied her claim."³ (emphasis added) At the hearing the Claimant testified that the Surety paid at least part of Dr. Walker's bills; 4 they paid for an EMG study he ordered; they paid for an MRI and for an orthodic/prosthesis provided by Rocky Mountain Limb and Brace. [HT p. 74 line 19 to p. 76 line 23] Further, Claimant's Exhibit 19, pages 2 and 3 are part of the record, were not objected to, not rebutted, and corroborate Claimant's hearing testimony. Obviously the Surety paid for Dr. Walker's impairment rating, (Claimant's Exhibit 6, pp. 7-10) since they ordered it. The record is clear and unambiguous that defendants paid for some of Claimant's medical bills associated with her work-related accident and the Referee was in error concluding otherwise.⁵

Lastly, the Referee devotes an entire page of her Decision discrediting Claimant's testimony on "[T]he failure of the log book to record that Claimant's low back pain resulted from a workplace injury...". (Decision, p. 13, par.'s 26-28) This is not relevant and should not be used against the Claimant since, as discussed above, the Employer admitted that it had notice of the injury as of December 15, 2008.

³ This is also addressed in the Commission's Order Denying Reconsideration and Rehearing, p. 9, and footnote 2. Claimant agrees with the Commission that payment of a bill need not be deemed an admission. however, the Referee in her Decision uses it as one more (false) fact to find against the Claimant and wrongfully diminish her credibility.

⁴ Obviously the Surety would also have paid Dr. Walker for the Impairment Rating they requested from him - Claimant's Exhibit 6, pp. 7-10.

⁵ The Commission found that through "mistake or otherwise" the Surety did pay some medical expenses associated with Claimants claim and the Referee was again factually wrong. (Order Denying Reconsideration and Rehearing, p. 8, bottom line)

Nobody is perfect, but EVERYTHING the Referee refers to regarding the accident in the "Accident" portion of her "Findings of Fact" beginning on page 4 of her Decision is factually wrong. Not surprisingly, these mistakes lead the Referee to an erroneous conclusion that Claimant did not suffer a compensable accident on November 24, 2008.

These errors of fact lead the Referee to doubt the credibility of the Claimant's testimony and the obviously wrong belief that "Claimant did not attribute her low back pain to any particular event during this period". [Decision, p. 17, par. 38] And the Referee came to the erroneous conclusion that "the Claimant did not file a FROI until after the surgical recommendation was made," [Decision, p. 14, par. 33] - obviously believing in the factually wrong theory that the Claimant made up the story of an accident after surgery was recommended. It was actually the Defendant Surety who took no action on the case until after surgery was recommended on April 22, 2009.

The Referee's theory is not true, is based on factually false findings, and led the Referee and the Commission to a clearly erroneous result.

ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER OR NOT IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COMMISSION TO RULE THAT CLAIMANT FAILED TO PROVE THAT HER LOW BACK CONDITION WAS CAUSED BY AN ACCIDENT ARISING OUT OF AND IN THE COURE OF HER EMPLOYMENT.

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

Attorney's fees are requested per I.C. §72-313.

///

⁶ November 24, 2008, the date of the alleged injury, through April 22, 2009, the date she agreed with Dr. Marano to have surgery.

LEGAL SUMMARY

Workers' compensation law is to be liberally construed in favor of the injured worker, and any doubts are to be resolved in favor of the worker. *Dinius v. Loving Care and More Inc.* 133 Idaho 572, 573, 990 P.2d 738 (citations omitted). The humane purposes which it serves leave no room for narrow, technical construction. *Ogden v. Thompson*, 128 Idaho 87, 910 P.2d 759 (1996). The Act is to be construed broadly to bring as many workers within its coverage as possible and the Act should be construed liberally in order to effectuate its beneficent purposes. *Yount v. Boundary County*, 118 Idaho 307, 796 P.2d 516 (1990).

Accident: "Accident" means an unexpected, undesigned, and unlooked for mishap, or untoward event, connected with the industry in which it occurs, and which can be reasonably located as to time when and place where it occurred, causing injury. [I.C. §72-102(18)(b)]

When reviewing a decision by the Industrial Commission, the Court exercises free review over the Commission's conclusions of law, but will not disturb the Commission's factual findings if they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. I.C. §72-732; Stewart v. Sun Valley Co., 140 Idaho 381, 384, 94 P.3d 686, 689 (2004).

Substantial and competent evidence is "relevant evidence which a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." Boise Orthopedic Clinic v. Idaho State Ins. Fund, 128 Idaho 161, 164, 911 P.2d 754, 757 (1996). The Commission's conclusions regarding the credibility and weight of evidence will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous. Excell Constr. Inc. v. State, Dep't of Labor, 141 Idaho 688, 692, 116 P.3d 18, 22 (2005).

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ARGUMENT:

Claimant contends the Commission's Decision is not supported by substantial and competent evidence, and, when the Referee's clearly erroneous conclusions regarding the evidence are considered, the evidence shows the Claimant suffered a compensable accident and has reasonably located the time when, and place where, her accident occurred, causing her low back injury.

The Claimant proved with substantial and competent evidence that she suffered a compensable "accident" on November 24, 2008.

At paragraph 47 of her Decision, the Referee concluded that "Claimant has failed to adduce sufficient evidence to prove that her low back injury was caused by an accident arising out of and in the course of her employment."

In paragraphs 45 and 46 of the Decision, the Referee stated:

"...the evidence, considered as a whole, fails to establish the occurrence of the claimed accident.

"46. No physician opined that Claimant incurred her lumbar spine injury while simply standing and talking at work, and Claimant has failed to prove she was doing anything else at work that triggered her back pain or otherwise signaled a need for treatment. There is credible evidence that work worsened Claimant's back pain over time. However, this evidence is inadequate to establish Claimant's herniated disc is the result of a workplace accident." (emphasis added)

Apparently if "standing and talking" were considered by the Referee/Commission to constitute a compensable accident, the Commission might have ruled differently.

Clearly Claimant injured her back. The objective evidence of the herniated disc is undisputed. This claim was not denied because the Referee found that Claimant did not injure her back at work on November 24, 2008, or that she injured it outside of work. It

was denied because the Referee found that Claimant did not "adduce sufficient evidence that her low back injury was *caused by an accident*" at work that day. (emphasis added)

The Referee agrees that waitressing "worsened" Claimant's back pain. There can be no reasonable dispute that while her back pain came on at work on November 24, 2008, and worsened during her shift, the Commission contends, to be compensable, there must be an "accident" causing the injury to this waitress.

This Court has long held that:

"It is unnecessary that the claimant be engaged in some unusual work or that there be a slipping, falling or some sudden or violent accident preceding the injury before it is compensable. If the claimant be engaged in his ordinary, usual work and the strain of such labor becomes sufficient to overcome the resistance of claimant's body and causes an injury, such injury is compensable." *Harding v. Idaho Department Store*, 80 Idaho 156, 326 P.2d 992 (1958) citing *Lewis v. Department of Law Enforcement*, 79 Idaho 40, 311 P.2d 976.

In the case *Hazen v. General Store*, 111 Idaho 972, 729 P.2d 1035, dissenting Justice Huntley, at page 976, discussed the evolution of the interpretation of the statute that defines "accident" in the context of the workers compensation system in Idaho. He stated that:

"The commission applied the same legal standard as that set forth in the Worker's Compensation Act (Act) from 1939 until 1971:

"Accident," as used in this law, means an unexpected, undesigned, and unlooked for mishap, or untoward event, happening suddenly and connected with the industry in which it occurs, and which can be definitely located as to time when and place where it occurred, causing an injury, as defined in this law. I.C. §72-201 (1939-70)

In 1971, the legislature substituted the word "reasonably" for the word "definitely" and omitted the word "suddenly."

"Accident" means an unexpected, undesigned, and unlooked for mishap, or untoward event, connected with the industry in which it occurs,

and which can be reasonably located as to time when and place where it occurred, causing injury. [I.C. §72-102(14)(b)] (1971-83)

In substituting the word "reasonably" for the word "definitely" and omitting the word "suddenly," the legislature rejected the standard applied by the commission and adopted the standard urged by Hazen. The change in statutory language demonstrates legislative recognition of medical reality. Bones may break "suddenly" and completely, giving immediate notice of injury, thereby allowing the accident to be "definitely located as to time and place." On the other hand, more flexible internal tissues and organs may be incrementally damaged, not suddenly, but over a period of time, such as hours, days, or in some cases, weeks. The time and place of the accident may not be definitely locatable because sufficient damage has to occur before symptoms are triggered warranting medical attention, such as substantial or continuing pain."

"By way of illustration, a worker might be injured over the course of a few days. Symptoms might not arise for a few more days, and the need for medical attention might not become apparent for still another week or more. The injury causing event was not sudden and the lapse of time between the event and the need for medical attention may make it impossible to definitely locate the time and place of the event, due to the worker's failure of memory, for example. Nevertheless, proof of an "accident" is still possible if the time and place of the "untoward event" can be "reasonably located." I.C. §72-102(14(b). Proof of an "untoward event" depends on factors such as the seriousness and type of injury, presence of an unusual degree or type of stress, and the degree of connection between the stress and the injury."

In the Hazen case, which was a very, very closely decided case,⁷ the Court found that Claimant:

- suffered an alleged "accident" in mid-May of 1983;8
- the pain continued for several weeks and she had several discussions with her employer but "never attributed the tiredness and the pain in her leg and back to her work, or any accident occurring during her work;⁹

⁷ Initially decided in Claimant's favor in a January, 1986 Majority Opinion 3-2, then reversed by Opinion dated October 21, 1986, 3-2.

⁸ Hazen v. General Store, 111 Idaho 972, 973, 729 P.2d 1035, 1036 (1986)

⁹ Ibid.

- the Claimant did not see a chiropractor until August of 1983, and told him that she "had no idea what the cause of the pain was":¹⁰
- Surgery was performed on August 29, 1983, and, "up to that time, claimant had never asserted that her medical problem was work related, or that it resulted from an accident which she had incurred during her employment.¹¹
- Claimant did not ever file a Notice of Injury with the Industrial Commission. 12
- Claimant filed an "application for hearing" on October 21, 1983, first alleging the "accident" occurred between July 9th and July 16th, 1983; and, in December of 1983, filed an amended application alleging her accident occurred "between May 13th and May 23."13
- Defendants submitted a deposition of an orthopedic surgeon, who testified that "there does not appear to be any specific incident which caused this lady to have a herniated disc and he attributed her injury to "gradual onset" over a long period of time. 14

In that case, the Court upheld that the Commission's finding that claimant's condition was the result of "the aging process" and "not the result of her employment." 15 By a 3-2 vote, this Court found with the employer, that the Commission's decision was based on substantial, competent evidence. The dissents were vigorous.

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