UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-12-2013

Clark v. Shari's Management Corp. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40393

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

ARGUMENT

I. RELEVANT LAW

Relying upon the former Idaho Code §72-17(a) (now, §72-18 (a)), this Court has established clear requirements for a Claimant seeking benefits under Idaho's Worker's Compensation Law. In *Dinius v. Loving Care and More, Inc.,* 133 Idaho 572, 574 900 P.2d 738, 740 (1999), the Court stated:

The applicable standard for determining whether an employee is entitled to compensation under the Worker's Compensation Act requires that the injury must have been caused by an accident "arising out of and in the course of employment."

Dinius v. Loving Care and More, Inc., 133 Idaho 572, 574, 990 P.2d 738, 740 (1999)

(quoting I.C. §72-102 (18)(a)). Claimant carries the burden of proving both that she

was injured and that "the injury was the result of an accident arising out of and in

<u>the course of employment.</u>" Seamans v. Maaco Auto Painting and Body Works, 128 Idaho 747, 751, P.2d 1192, 1196 (1996)(*emphasis added*) (citing Neufield v. Browning Farris Indus., 109 Idaho 899, 902, 712 P.2d 600, 603 (1985)).

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Commission's decision below turns solely upon an issue previously identified by this Court as a question of fact: Whether Claimant proved the occurrence of an industrial accident. The standard of review long applied by this Court in an appeal such as this is concisely set forth in *Kessler ex rel. Kessler v. Payette County*, 129 Idaho 855, 858, 934 P.2d 28, 31 (1997):

It is particularly important to note that <u>whether an injury arose out of and</u> <u>in the course of employment is a question of fact to be decided by the</u> <u>Commission.</u> Reinstein v. McGregor Land and Livestock Co., 126 Idaho 156, 879 P.2d 1089 (1994). Although this Court may review the Commission's factual findings, this Court must limit its review to determining

whether the Commission correctly denied benefits after it applied the law to the relevant facts. Morgan v. Columbia Helicopters, Inc., 118 Idaho 347, 796 P.2d 1020 (1990). This Court may not set aside findings of fact that are supported by substantial competent, although conflicting, evidence (See I.C. 72-732(1); Gradwohl v. J.R. Simplot Co., 96 Idaho 655, 534 P.2d 775 (1975)), but may disturb the Commission's findings if they are clearly erroneous. Koester v. State Ins. Fund, 124 Idaho 205, 208, 858 P.2d 744, 747 (1993). This Court additionally may not scrutinize the weight and credibility of the evidence relied upon by the Commission but must construe the evidence in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed before the Commission. Darner v. Southeast Idaho In-Home Servs., 122 Idaho 897, 841 P.2d 427 (1992).

Kessler, 129 Idaho at 858, 934 P.2d at 31 (emphasis added). "[The Court] does not try the matter anew." Wichterman v. J.H. Kelly, Inc., 144 Idaho 138, 158 P.3d 301, 303 (2007) (citing Hart v. Kaman Bearing & Supply, 130 Idaho, 296, 299, 939 P.2d 1375, 1378

(1997)).

On appeal from a decision of the Idaho Industrial Commission, the Supreme Court

grants great deference to the Commission's Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law.

This Court exercises free review over questions of law, but not over questions of fact. As

restated in Sundquist v. Precision Steel & Gypsum, Inc., 141 Idaho 450, 111 P.3d 135

(2005):

When reviewing a decision of the Industrial Commission, this Court exercises free review over questions of law. Uhl v. Ballard Medical Products, Inc., 138 Idaho 653, 657, 67 P.3d 1265, 1269 (2003) . . . The factual findings of the Industrial Commission will be upheld provided they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. Uhl, 138 Idaho at 657, 67 P.3d at 1269. "Substantial and competent evidence is relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." Id. The conclusions reached by the Industrial Commission regarding the credibility and weight of evidence will not be disturbed unless the conclusions are clearly erroneous. Hughen v. Highland Estates, 137 Idaho 349, 351, 48 P.3d 1238, 1240 (2002). We will not re-weigh the evidence or consider whether we would have drawn a different conclusion from the evidence presented.

Id., (emphasis added). "[Substantial and competent evidence] is more than a scintilla of proof, but less than a preponderance." *Stolle v. Bennett*, 144 Idaho 44, 48, P.3d 545, 549 (2007) (*Internal quotations and citations omitted*). The Commission is the ultimate judge of credibility of witnesses. *Duncan v. Navajo Trucking*, 134 Idaho 202, 204; 998 P.2d 1115, 1117 (2000). It is a function of the Commission and not of this Court to determine the credibility of witnesses, the weight to be assigned testimony, and the reasonable inferences to be drawn from the record as a whole. *ASARCO, Inc., v. Industrial Special Indemnity Fund*, 127 Idaho 928, 931, 908 P.2d 1235, 1238 (1996).

III. CONSTRUING THE EVIDENCE OF RECORD IN LIGHT MOST Α FAVORABLE TO RESPONDENTS, THE COMMISSION'S FACTUAL DETERMINATION BELOW THAT CLAIMANT DID NOT MEET HER BURDEN OF PROVING THE OCCURRENCE OF AN ACCIDENT RESULTING IN INJURY ARISING OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE OF HER EMPLOYMENT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL AND CREDIBLE EVIDENCE

Claimant/Appellant incorrectly characterizes the holding of the Referee and the Commission in this case as a mistake of law. *Claimant's Opening Brief, p. 26.* Yet, Claimant disingenuously contends that the Commission's decision below was not based on substantial and competent evidence because the Referee overlooked or misinterpreted evidence, improperly excluded other evidence , and made "obvious and clear" factual errors. *A.R. p. 93.*

Factual errors Claimant specifically complained of include the Referee's findings: 1) that Claimant herself completed the FROI; 2) that the Surety did not pay some of Claimant's related expenses; 3) that Employer was not aware of Claimant's injury and accident until late April 2009; and 4) that Claimant's accident was not recorded in the Employer's daily log book. *A. R. p. 57.*

The Commission agreed with Claimant that there were some errors in the findings of fact. First, the FROI was not completed by Claimant, but was actually completed by manager, Mr. Dummermuth, and signed by Claimant. The Commission stated this was harmless error, because the basis for the decision against Claimant was that she failed to prove that an industrial accident occurred, which would not change simply because someone other than Claimant completed the FROI. *A.R., p. 100-101*.

The Commission next agreed with Claimant that Surety did pay some medical expenses associated with Claimant's claim. Again, the Commission found this to be harmless error, explaining that, notwithstanding Claimant's apparent misunderstanding of ldaho's worker's compensation law, payment of benefits by a Surety does not equate to acceptance of liability for a claim. *A.R. p. 101; see also, Idaho Code* §72-201.

Claimant next argued that the FROI contained an inaccurate description of Claimant's accident, and that it was that inaccurate information that led the Commission to the conclusion that Claimant was not credible. Unfortunately for Claimant, however, and as clearly articulated by the Commission, the record is replete with many additional reasons for the Commission to conclude that Claimant lacked credibility. The Commission first discussed Claimant's own contradictory statements, (previously set forth above) of how she first came to require treatment for her low back, as evidenced in the early medical records, Claimant's statement to Surety on May 6, 2009, her deposition on April 13, 2011, and her hearing testimony on June 1, 2011. Claimant's later statements were inconsistent with those recorded in her early medical records with respect to the details surrounding her symptom onset. Claimant's later statements were also inconsistent with each other on

critical points including pain onset and the circumstances under which Claimant says her supervisor told her to see a doctor. *A.R. p. 101-104*.

Claimant argued that her many inconsistencies and contradictions involve only minor details, and that her various accounts of the alleged accident were substantially similar, citing this Court's holding in Stevens-McAtee v. Potlatch, 145 Idaho 325, 179 P. 3d 288 (2008) in support of her argument. Claimant believes her later testimony, like the claimant's testimony in *McAtee*, simply provides more details than her earlier statements. However, the McAtee Court found claimant's later testimony, although more detailed than his prior accounts, was not inconsistent with those earlier accounts. Id. While in the present case Claimant's later testimony certainly provides more details than her earlier accounts of the accident, in contrast with McAtee, Claimant's later testimony was also **inconsistent** with, and **contradictory** of, her earlier versions. A.R. 101-104. Not only did Claimant fail to mention a work-place accident to her medical providers, she is reported to have affirmatively stated she had **no history of trauma or accident**, that her low back pain began "out of the blue" while she was "standing funny" and she thought it was from waitressing for many years and not taking care of her body. D.E. C p. 8; D.E. E p. 19; D.E. I p. 53; D.E. G p. 41 . (Emphasis added.)

The Commission clearly articulated three reasons for finding that the information contained in Claimant's medical records was more credible than Claimant's later statements and testimony:

First, the medical records from December 2008 to April 2009 are more contemporaneous to the onset of Claimant's back pain than statements and testimony delivered after April 2009. Second, statements made during litigation, or even during the course of making a workers' compensation claim, are inherently self-serving; this does not make them *per se* untrue, but it does make them more suspect than statements made for the sole purpose of receiving appropriate medical care. Indeed, the Idaho Rules of Evidence recognize that statements made for the purposes of medical care have a "circumstantial [guarantee] of trustworthiness'; that is why they are an exception to the rule that hearsay is inadmissible. Third, Claimant's later accounts of her accident, both in her statement to Surety and in her testimony, are so contradictory as to be unreliable. Claimant's descriptions of the accident are not just progressively more detailed, as in *McAtee* above; Claimant's descriptions actively conflict with each other.

A.R. p. 106 (emphasis added). The Commission then clarified its process for determining

witness credibility:

We understand that memory is an imperfect device, and that the details of an accident resulting in an injury can be forgotten or misremembered as time passes. We understand, too, that even credible witnesses have a desire to present themselves in the best possible light, and may subconsciously massage certain details without a malicious intent to deceive, Thus, when determining whether a witness is credible, we do not look for perfect consistency. Rather, we look for substantial consistency supported by the other evidence in the record.

Id. p. 107 (emphasis added). The Commission, in explaining why Claimant lacked

credibility, stated:

Here, Claimant's accounts are not substantially consistent. Either she fell, or she did not fall; either she fell to the floor, or she was able to catch herself; either she dropped the tray, or she set it down; either she set tables after the accident, or she rested in a booth for the remainder of her shift; either the silverware tray actually "came down on" Claimant, or it fell without impacting her – these are not minor details, easily misremembered; these are material facts about how the accident occurred. A heavy silverware tray "coming down on" a fallen person could easily cause injury, perhaps even serious injury, depending on how heavy it was and what part of the body was impacted, and it defies belief that if this actually happened, Claimant would have neglected to mention it to Surety.

Id (emphasis added). The Commission, like the Referee, found it suspicious that

Claimant's description of a lifting accident, by the time of her deposition:

. . . grew to include an elaborate recitation of how she dropped the silverware tray as she fell to the ground, creating a clamor that brought

Aaron from the kitchen. She had not previously divulged this dramatic fact, not to her many treating medical providers, and not in response to direct questioning by Defendants about how she incurred her back pain. Instead, she told Surety in May 2009 **that she set the tray down**.

A.R. p. 108 (emphasis added)(citing A. R. p. 39). Noting that Claimant was not merely

providing more detail as contemplated by the holding in McAtee, the Commission found it

to be a "direct contradiction, calling into question the veracity of Claimant's

testimony as a whole" thus leading the Commission to its irrefutable conclusion:

The substantial evidence in the record does not support a conclusion that Claimant's accident occurred as described at deposition or hearing. It does not support a conclusion that Claimant's accident occurred as described in her initial interview with Surety. In fact, the substantial evidence in the record does not support a conclusion that Claimant's accident occurred at all.

Id., (emphasis added).

IV. DEFENDANT/RESPONDENTS' REQUEST UNDER I. C. §12-121 and I. A. R. 41 FOR AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS ON APPEAL SHOULD BE GRANTED

Claimant/Appellant has characterized the issue before this Court as one of law.

Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 26. However, the issue here is actually one of fact, that is,

whether there was substantial, competent evidence to support the Commission's finding.

As previously articulated by this Court:

Attorney fees and costs are properly awarded when an appeal asks this Court to do nothing more than reweigh the evidence submitted to the Commission.

Duncan v. Navajo Trucking, 134 Idaho 202, 204; 998 P.2d 1115, 1117 (2000) (citing Baker

v. Louisiana Pacific Corporation, 123 Idaho 799, 803, 853 P.2d 544, 547 (1993).

When determining whether to award reasonable attorney fees to the prevailing

party on appeal, the Court is guided by the following general principles:

Since the statutory power [to award attorney fees] is discretionary, attorney fees will not be awarded as a matter of right. Nor will attorney fees be awarded where the losing party brought the appeal in good faith <u>and</u> where a <u>genuine</u> issue of law was presented . . . [An award of attorney fees may be granted under I. C. §12-121 and I. A. R. 41 on appeal to the prevailing party] when this court is left with the abiding belief that the appeal has been brought or defended frivolously, unreasonably, or without foundation.

Minich v. Gem State Developers, Inc., 99 Idaho 911, 918, 591 P.2d 1078, 1085

(1979)(emphasis added).

V. CLAIMANT/APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL UNDER I. C. §72-313 [*sic*] OR OTHERWISE

Regardless of the outcome of the issue on appeal, Respondents should not be ordered to pay attorney fees. Respondents clearly have reasonable grounds to ask the Court to affirm the Industrial Commission's ruling that Claimant failed to meet her burden of proving the occurrence of an industrial accident. I.C. 72-804 fees are only payable when the Commission, or any Court hearing a workers compensation proceeding, determines that the employer or surety contested the claim for compensation "without reasonable grounds."

CONCLUSION

Claimant has not argued that the Commission misapplied the law in this case, but, rather, simply seeks a determination from this Court substituting Claimant's view of key facts for those found by the Commission below. Thus, Claimant 's allegation that the Commission failed to ground its decision upon substantial and competent evidence is little more than a thinly veiled attempt to have this Court re-try the underlying case and reweigh evidence, hoping that the Court will agree with Claimant's version of the facts rather than the findings and conclusions appropriately reached by the Commission below. As previously set forth, Defendants respectfully pray this Court apply the standard of review announced in *Kessler*, 129 Idaho at 858, 934 P.2d at 31, and affirm the Commission's decision in this matter. Further, Defendants request this Court award reasonable attorney fees and costs on appeal to Defendants/Respondents, pursuant to I.C. §12-121 and I. A. R. 41, as well as the guidelines set forth in *Minich*, 99 Idaho at 918, 591 P.2d at 1085.